RECEIVED

Oct 27 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Certiorari to Cherokee County

Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

JOEY CLARK,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001627

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for asking the investigator about statements made by five jail house snitches, who did not testify at trial, claiming that Petitioner confessed to killing the deceased and then not objecting when the State asked the investigator to read the statements to the jury and then introduced the written copies of the statements because these decisions by trial counsel cannot be part of a valid, reasonable trial strategy and resulted in prejudice?

STATEMENT

In November of 2013, the Cherokee County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Joey Clark, for murder, indictment #2013-GS-11-1167. On March 17, 2014, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Howard P. King. H. Chase Harbin represented Petitioner at trial. Kimberly L. Leskanic and Jennifer Jordan prosecuted the case. The jury found Petitioner guilty and Judge King sentenced him to forty-five (45) years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed and the direct appeal was perfected pursuant to the procedure of Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). On August 19, 2015, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal.

On July 20, 2016, Petitioner, filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR]. The State filed a return on May 16, 2017. The evidentiary hearing was held June 19-21, 2018, before the Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie. Joel F. Stroud represented Petitioner. Megan Harrigan Jameson represented the State. In a written order signed August 24, 2018, Judge Knie denied relief and dismissed the application. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on September 4, 2018. A petition for writ of certiorari was filed on April 24, 2019. The return was filed on September 9, 2019. On September 20, 2019, pursuant to Rule 243(1), SCACR, the South Carolina Supreme Court transferred the case to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. On September 29, 2021, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari. This brief of petitioner follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them.” Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018), (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016), and Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). “We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” Id. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40 (citing Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527, and Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)). “[W]e will reverse the PCR court's decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527.

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge erred in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for asking the investigator about statements made by five jail house snitches, who did not testify at trial, claiming that Petitioner confessed to killing the deceased and then not objecting when the State asked the investigator to read the statements to the jury and then introduced the written copies of the statements in evidence because these decisions by trial counsel cannot be part of a valid, reasonable trial strategy and resulted in prejudice.

Facts.

On the afternoon of December 2, 2010, a motorist driving on Mikes Creek Road discovered the dead body of Winter Wingard. (App. pp. 222-224). Petitioner and Wingard had been romantically involved but the relationship ended in October. (App. p. 127, line 9 – p. 128, lines 1-4). Despite the break up, Petitioner continued to stay at the home Wingard shared with her mother, Beverly Patrick. The night before Wingard’s body was found she was at home, not feeling well. (App. p. 138, lines 7-19). Petitioner and Patrick were also home, drinking moonshine and eating pizza. (App. pp. 137-139). When Patrick went to bed at 10:00 PM Wingard was napping on the couch and Petitioner was at the kitchen table. (App. p. 139, line 16 – p. 140, lines 1-21). According to Patrick, when she woke up at 4:00 AM Petitioner was standing at the foot of her bed and told her that Wingard had not come home after telling him she was going out to buy cigarettes. (App. p. 141, lines 4-14). Patrick testified that Petitioner told her that he believed Wingard had actually gone to see a friend, Anna Mooney, with whom Wingard had recently become romantically involved. (App. p. 129, line 16 – p. 130, lines 1-19; p. 141, lines 14-15). Patrick testified that her car was gone and she had to ride to work that morning with Petitioner. (App. p. 142, line 22 – p. 143, lines 1-5). The car was later recovered not far from the trailer and Wingard’s purse was found inside. (App. p. 145, line 9 – p. 146, lines 1-4). Wingard’s cell phone, removed

battery and the keys to Patrick's car were found in an open field behind the trailer. (App. pp. 293-294, p.304).

The State introduced evidence of text messages between Petitioner, Wingard and Mooney on December 1st and into the early morning on December 2nd. In one of the text messages between Petitioner and Mooney each seems to brag about having sex with Wingard. (App. p. 192, lines 12-19). The text messages between Mooney and Wingard indicate that Petitioner told Mooney that she contracted HIV from Wingard. (App. p. 195, lines 9-10). Wingard insisted that Petitioner was lying about her HIV status. (App. p. 195, lines 11-25). In another message to Mooney, Wingard indicated that she was on her way to the hospital to get tested. (App. p. 196, lines 1-25). The last text message from Wingard's phone was sent at 2:14 AM on December 2nd, to Mooney's phone. (App. p. 380, lines 1-10).

Some fibers from a barbed wire fence on Mikes Creek Road, where Wingard's body was found, were consistent with the fibers on Wolverine boots owned by Petitioner or any other source with the same physical, chemical and optical characteristics. (App. p. 514, lines 9-12). Neither Petitioner nor Wingard could be excluded from contributing to DNA found on a briar and a tree limb on Mikes Creek Road. (App. p. 564, lines 15-18). Additionally, there was a third unknown contributor to the DNA samples found on the briar and tree limb. (App. p. 564, lines 23-25). Petitioner was a major contributor to the DNA sample found in an oral swab from Wingard. (App. p. 569, lines 3-14). There was also an unknown minor contributor to this sample. (App. p. 569, lines 19-23).

Petitioner was arrested and jailed on December 3, 2010, for an unrelated traffic offense. (App. p. 398, lines 2-8). Five inmates at the jail claimed that, while Petitioner was at the jail, he

made incriminating statements implicating himself in Wingard's death. On December 6, 2010, at 3:08, Petitioner was charged with murder. (App. p. 400, lines 14-20).

Argument.

During the cross-examination of Detective Richard Burgess, the lead investigator, trial counsel asked about statements from inmates at the jail alleging that Petitioner admitted killing Wingard. (App. p. 401, lines 1-9; p. 404, lines 11-17). The prosecution had not asked the investigator about these statements during direct examination. Trial counsel asked about a statement from Bryant "Skeet" Phillips on December 5, 2010¹. (App. p. 406, line 23 – p. 407, lines 1-9). The prosecutor objected on hearsay grounds when trial counsel asked the detective about the content of the statement but then withdrew the objection. (App. p. 408, line 21 – p. 409, lines 1-9). The investigator, discussing Phillips' statement, testified, "They said that – when I asked him, he said that he and some other guys had asked him what he was in for and said they got him for killing his girlfriend. He said they found her butchered to death. And with that being said, at that point he was not even charged with murder." (App. p. 409, lines 20-24).

Trial counsel questioned the investigator about a statement from another inmate, John Raymond Austin. (App. p. 413, lines 10-12). When asked if Austin's statement differed from Phillips' statement the investigator testified, "It's similar. He – they said they asked him what he was in for and he said murdering his wife." (App. p. 413, lines 15-16). When trial counsel asked the investigator to elaborate on Austin's statement, the investigator testified, "He says when he walked away, a little while later "Skeet" went over and got to talking with him and "Skeet" came back and told us that he said she was stabbed up, and he also said none of us in there even knew

¹ Statements from four other inmates were taken the next day on December 6, 2010.

how she had died.” (App. p. 414, lines 8-11). During the PCR hearing trial counsel acknowledged that some of statements contained hearsay. (App. p. 975, line 4 – p. 976, lines 1-18).

Trial counsel questioned the investigator about a statement from a third inmate, Ridge F. Crosby. (App. p. 414, lines 12-13). The investigator testified that Crosby stated that when asked why he was in jail, Petitioner told him for murder for killing his girlfriend. (App. p. 415, line 22 – p. 416, lines 1-8). Trial counsel questioned the investigator about a statement from a fourth inmate, Michael Covington, but then skipped over that statement. (App. p. 416, line 24 – p. 417, 418, lines 1-20).

Finally, trial counsel questioned the investigator about a statement from a fifth inmate, Michael Stillwell. (App. p. 418, lines 21-23). The investigator confirmed that a third search warrant was executed on the residence based on Stillwell’s statement. (App. p. 418, line 24 – p. 419, lines 1-6). The investigator testified, “. . . Stillwell said that – referred to Joey [Petitioner] said he had been – the guy said he had been working on his wife or girlfriend for several days and finally had enough. So they were in the kitchen and he picked up a knife and started stabbing her. And then the guy said he put her body in the car and dumped it.” (App. p. 419, lines 7-12). The investigator admitted no blood was found in the kitchen. (App. p. 419, lines 18-20).

On re-direct examination the investigator read into the record, without objection, the written statements of all five inmates. (App. pp. 436-443). The prosecutor was able to point out that all of the inmates with the possible exception of Crosby gave statements before Petitioner was arrested on the murder charge on December 6, 2010, at 3:08 PM. (App. p. 435, line 21 – p. 436, lines 1-4; p. 438, line 21 – p. 439, lines 1-13; p. 440, lines 11-18; p. 442, lines 5-10). The prosecutor was able to emphasize that details about the deceased, the manner of death, and other details contained in the statements had not been released to the public. Finally, the written

statements from the jailhouse snitches were admitted in evidence, without objection. (App. p. 446, line 16 - p. 447, lines 1-21).

In the PCR application Petitioner wrote:

Mr. Harbin had prior knowledge that the jail inmates made statements incriminating Clark. Mr. Harbin offered ineffective assistance of counsel when he did nothing to suppress these statements made by the inmates. Mr. Harbin unreasonably viewed these inmates as confidential informants even though he was told on Page 73 of the Trial Transcript that none of the inmates were confidential informants. Mr. Harbin's trial performance opened the door for these inadmissible statements to be admitted as evidence in violation of the *Crawford* holding and the *Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause* Rules, as well as, the *South Carolina Rules of Evidence Hearsay Rules*. The significance of these statements being read into evidence **without** the inmates taking the stand and being subject to cross-examination was so alarming to Trial Judge King that on Page 593 of the trial transcript during his discussion of jury charges he made the following comment:

Judge King: I was a bit surprised, Mr. Harbin, that the statements came in as to what they said without the individuals coming forward.

The admission of the inmate's statements was treated as a confession made by Joey Clark by both the State and by Defense Counsel Mr. Harbin. The effect of the statements prejudiced Mr. Clark in the eyes of the jury and denied him a fair trial.

(App. p. 716). The written statements by the jailhouse snitches were included as part of the application for post-conviction relief. (App. pp. 744-751).

During the PCR hearing trial counsel was asked about the admission of the statements from the jailhouse snitches. (App. pp. 948-984). Trial counsel testified, "So, this is probably the single most difficult question of, of the case for me –" (App. p. 949, lines 19-20). Trial counsel additionally testified:

The, other informants, my assessment, at that time, was that, if I could pick apart their words on a statement, and avoid the ability for them to rehabilitate themselves, that that might be the biggest win that we could get.

. . . So, it puts me in the position of doing something that the State would completely not, not expect at all. And I, and I remember. I went to law school with Jennifer. I, I didn't know Kim, but I got to know her over the course of us – and I think they were as shocked as anybody in the courtroom when I opened the door.

And, and I'll admit, if it's something wrong, then, you know, the Court can tell me I did it wrong, but I did it on purpose. I baited them –

(App. p. 952, lines 11-24). Contrary to trial counsel's assessment, the biggest win the defense could have received was for the jury not to have heard the investigator testify about alleged hearsay statements from five jailhouse snitches. The error in trial counsel questioning the investigator about the statements became more egregious when, on re-direct, the investigator, without objection, read all five the statements to the jury and the statements were admitted in evidence. Trial counsel should have required the State to call the jailhouse snitches as witnesses at trial so that they could be effectively cross-examined and possibly impeached by the statements they already made. The oral and written statements of the snitches should not have been admitted in evidence through the investigator.

Later, trial counsel was asked, "Please explain how it was a reasonable strategy to ask Detective Burgess cross-examination questions that confirmed that there were other inmates who supposedly witnessed Mr. Clark's alleged confession given the fact that, prior to your cross examination of Detective Burgess the State had not brought up any discussion of these inmates' statements?" (App. p. 961, lines 13-19). Trial counsel answered, "Well, there's a two part answer because the reason that I wanted the statements in was because I didn't want them to testify." (App. p. 961, lines 20-22). Questioning the investigator about the statements and admitting the written statements did not preclude the State from calling the jailhouse snitches to testify. The State could have called the witnesses to testify at trial, even after the statements were admitted. The State, however did not need to call these witnesses, who would have brought with them to the stand all of the baggage of a jailhouse snitch, because their written statements had already been introduced in evidence, without objection by the defense. Trial counsel's so called strategy only

served to benefit the State by not requiring them to subject their jailhouse snitches to scrutiny before the jury.

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

This Court finds counsel's testimony as to this allegation is credible, particularly in reference to his strategic reason for opening the door to the admission of the various statements through Detective Burgess. Moreover, this Court finds counsel made an objectively reasonable strategic decision to question Detective Burgess as to these statements and open the door to their admission after thoughtful consideration of the facts of the case, his full investigation (including of these particular witnesses), and observing Detective Burgess during direct examination. Therefore, this Court finds counsel's performance was not deficient.

(App. p. 1278). The PCR judge additionally wrote:

Additionally, this Court notes that by introducing the statements through Detective Burgess rather than calling each witness individually, the State elected not to call these witnesses and therefore, was unable to rehabilitate the witnesses or afford them an opportunity to clarify or correct discrepancies between the statements and the evidence presented, which was the intended goal of counsel's strategic decision. Counsel's performance was not deficient.

(App. pp. 1278-1279). If the jailhouse snitches needed to be rehabilitated or needed an opportunity to clarify or correct discrepancies, the State would have called them as witnesses. The State elected not to call the snitches as witnesses to avoid any possible adverse credibility finding by the jury after cross examination. The prosecutor testified at the PCR hearing:

And, frankly, Mr. Harbin had been able to point out their inconsistencies. Although we would have possibly, and if they testified they, they told me, gained additional information, he would have had yet another opportunity, right after our lead investigator had not done great on cross-examination, have an opportunity to point out the inconsistencies again in these inmates' statements. We felt that the strongest part of our case had to do with the DNA, the crime scene, and the forensics. And we decided just to head down that road in our case².

² Petitioner disagrees with this witness' assessment of the DNA, crime scene and forensics as the strongest part of the case. There were reasonable, non-inculpatory explanations for this evidence.

(App. p. 1142, lines 11-20). Counsel was deficient in regard to allowing the admission of statements made by jailhouse snitches through an investigator rather than requiring the snitches to take the stand and be cross-examined as to bias, reliability and credibility.

In regard to prejudice the PCR judge wrote:

Moreover, this Court notes that Applicant cannot establish any requisite prejudice, as the substance of these statements would have clearly been introduced at trial through the individual witnesses had the statements not come in through Detective Burgess. The prosecutors testified these witnesses would have been called as witnesses during Applicant's trial and they would have attempted to clear up any discrepancies or inconsistencies when each witness was testifying. Therefore, Applicant is unable to establish any resulting prejudice from counsel's strategic decision to open the door to the statements through Detective Burgess. This Court finds Applicant cannot establish any constitutional ineffective as to this allegation, which must be denied and dismissed with prejudice.

(App. p. 1279). The PCR judge erred. As noted by the prosecutor at the PCR hearing, if the jailhouse snitches had taken the stand and testified, as should have been required, trial counsel would have had the opportunity to confront the witnesses and cross-examine about the inconsistencies. Additionally, trial counsel could have questioned the witnesses about the charges they were facing while in jail and any hopes or promises of leniency from the State based on their cooperation. As a result of a proper confrontation and cross-examination, the jury could then make critical credibility determinations about the alleged statements. The other evidence relied upon by the State, including DNA, crime scene and forensics, did not point conclusively to guilt because of the relationship Petitioner shared with Wingard. The credibility of the jailhouse snitches was a critical factor to be determined by the jury. The jury, however, was not provided with the traditional benefit of cross-examination in order to make that determination.

Trial counsel was ineffective in questioning the detective about the statements by the jailhouse snitches, opening the door to allow the State to read the entire statements to the jury and

then introduce the written statements in evidence. Petitioner was prejudiced by the deficient performance. Trial counsel's decision allowed the State to introduce otherwise inadmissible incriminating statements of jailhouse snitches without subjecting the snitches to cross-examination to raise bias and challenge their reliability and credibility. This was not a valid or reasonable trial strategy

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