**RECEIVED**

**Mar 07 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

CERTIORARI TO CHEROKEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Grace Gilchrist Knie, Post-Conviction Relief Judge  
Howard P. King, Trial Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001627

---

JOEY CLARK,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
S.C. Bar No. 100108  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
*Counsel of Record*

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.  
S.C. Bar No. 101260  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

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

## ARGUMENT

**THE POST-CONVICTION RELIEF COURT PROPERLY DENIED POST-CONVICTION RELIEF BECAUSE COUNSEL ARTICULATED A REASONABLE AND COMMON TRIAL STRATEGY TO “DRAW THE STING” OF FIVE JAILHOUSE INFORMANT STATEMENTS ADVERSE TO PETITIONER, AND BECAUSE THE RECORD REFLECTS COUNSEL EXECUTED A DEFENSE CONSISTENT WITH THE STRATEGY ARTICULATED IN HIS QUESTIONING OF DETECTIVE BURGESS, AND IN HIS CLOSING ARGUMENTS.**

On appeal, Petitioner argues this Court must reverse the post-conviction relief court’s denial of post-conviction relief because Counsel employed a trial strategy that “[n]o lawyer of ordinary training and skill in criminal law would consider . . . competent strategy.” (BOP 14). Despite Counsel’s well-formulated and thoughtful articulated strategic reasons accounting for his specific actions in this case, Petitioner is essentially asking this Court to disregard Counsel’s reasonable professional judgment and to supplant Counsel’s strategic thinking with a constrictive model of how a trial defense *must* be strategically conducted, in direct contravention to Strickland and its progeny.

However, Petitioner cannot prevail with this argument, as the post-conviction relief court’s decision to deny relief as to this ground is legally sound and well-supported by the record. Counsel deliberately and daringly shocked the prosecution by tearing down potentially damaging jailhouse informant evidence during the cross-examination of a witness who was not prepared to answer such questions, evidence that would have otherwise been introduced through multiple other witnesses. Counsel articulated his thinking and reasoning which led him to do so, and the trial record reflects performance consistent with the strategy so articulated. Because Counsel articulated his strategic reasoning and compellingly executed his strategy, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief. As this finding is not premised on any error of law or fact, this Court should affirm the denial of relief.

Well-established precedent demands the post-conviction relief court’s findings must be upheld. Petitioner, like every other criminal defendant tried in South Carolina, has a constitutional right to a fair trial. State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); see State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 627 (2000) (“The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution guarantee a defendant a fair trial by a panel of impartial and indifferent jurors.”). Pursuant to that right, the defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel. McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, n. 14 (1970); see Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984) (“An accused is entitled to be assisted by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair.”). Significantly though, effective assistance of counsel does *not* mean perfect or mistake-free representation. See Weaver v. Massachusetts, 137 S. Ct. 1899 (2017) (“[A] defendant has a right to effective representation, not a right to an attorney who performs his duties ‘mistake-free.’” (citation omitted)); Burt v. Titlow, 571 U.S. 12, 24 (2013) (“[T]he Sixth Amendment does not guarantee the right to perfect counsel; it promises only the right to effective assistance[.]”); Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (“The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.”). Instead, it simply means assistance that was objectively reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688. Meanwhile, counsel’s assistance is constitutionally ineffective only when “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686; see Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 110 (2011) (“Representation is constitutionally ineffective only if it so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the defendant was denied a fair trial.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)).

As the applicant in a post-conviction relief action, Petitioner bore the burden of proving his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. The reviewing court applies the two-part test outlined in Strickland to determine whether counsel’s conduct “was so ineffective as to require reversal” of the applicant’s conviction. 466 U.S. at 687. To obtain relief, a post-conviction relief applicant must prove (1) counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) the applicant sustained prejudice as a result of counsel’s deficient performance. Id. at 687–88; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117–18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Failure to make the required showing of either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice defeats the ineffectiveness claim. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 700; see also Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 695 (2002) (explaining that “[w]ithout proof of both deficient performance and prejudice to the defense, . . . it could not be said that the sentence or conviction resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that rendered the result of the proceeding unreliable” (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)).

The first prong—constitutional deficiency—is “necessarily linked to the practice and expectations of the legal community.” Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 366 (2010). An applicant making a claim of ineffective assistance “must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. The reviewing court must then “determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance” demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. Id.

Because of the difficulties inherent in making such an evaluation, the reviewing court must indulge in a “strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of

reasonably professional assistance.” Butler, 286 S.C. at 445, 334 S.E.2d at 816. “The burden of rebutting this presumption ‘rests squarely on the defendant,’ and ‘[i]t should go without saying that the absence of evidence cannot overcome [i]t.’ “ Dunn v. Reeves, 594 U.S. \_\_\_, \_\_\_, 141 S. Ct. 2405, 2410 (2021) (alteration in original) (quoting Burt, 571 U.S. at 22–23). In fact, “even if there is reason to think that counsel’s conduct ‘was far from exemplary,’ a court still may not grant relief if ‘[t]he record does not reveal’ that counsel took an approach that *no competent lawyer would have chosen*.” Id. (alteration in original) (emphasis added) (quoting Titlow, 571 U.S. at 23–24).

“When counsel focuses on some issues to the exclusion of others, there is a strong presumption that he [or she] did so for tactical reasons rather than through sheer neglect.” Yarborough, 540 U.S. at 5 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The Court, in determining deficiency, must affirmatively entertain the range of possible reasons counsel may have had for proceeding as they did. Cullen v. Pinholster, 563 U.S. 170, 196 (2011); Harrington, 562 U.S. at 109–10. “[E]ven if an omission is inadvertent, relief is not automatic. The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.” Yarborough, 540 U.S. at 6; see also Murphy v. Davis, 901 F.3d 578, 592 (5th Cir. 2018) (“[C]ounsel’s performance need not be optimal to be reasonable.”).

Review of counsel’s actions is hallmarked by deference, as “it is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel’s assistance after conviction or an adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel’s defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel’s conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how

best to represent a criminal defendant. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688–89; see id. at 691 (“Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another.”). “Defense lawyers have ‘limited’ time and resources, and so must choose from among ‘countless’ strategic options.” Dunn, 594 U.S. \_\_\_, 141 S. Ct. at 2410 (quoting Harrington, 562 U.S. at 106–107). “Such decisions are particularly difficult because certain tactics carry the risk of ‘harm[ing] the defense’ by undermining credibility with the jury or distracting from more important issues.” Id. (quoting Harrington, 562 U.S. at 108). Thus, a fair assessment of attorney performance requires every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel’s challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. The ultimate question is not whether counsel’s actions were reasonable, but whether there is any reasonable argument counsel satisfied Strickland’s deferential standard.

The second, or “prejudice” prong of Strickland is rooted in the very purpose of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel—to ensure a defendant has the assistance necessary to justify reliance on the outcome of the proceeding. Id. at 691–92. To prove prejudice, an applicant must demonstrate counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability “sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694; see id. at 695 (explaining that, where a defendant challenges his conviction, he must show that there exists “a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt”).

In determining prejudice, the reviewing court must consider the totality of the evidence before the jury. Id. at 695. It is not sufficient “to show [counsel’s] errors had some conceivable effect” on the outcome of the proceeding—counsel’s errors must be “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial.” Id. at 687 (emphasis added). “An error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment.” Id. at 691. Moreover, the South Carolina Supreme Court has repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice. Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998).

The Strickland standard must be applied with scrupulous care, lest “intrusive post-trial inquiry” threaten the integrity of the very adversary process the right to counsel is meant to serve. 466 U.S. at 689–90. Courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). The applicant’s burden of proving both Strickland components is heavy in light of the strong presumption that counsel’s conduct fell within the range of reasonable professional legal assistance. 466 U.S. at 690. Representation is constitutionally ineffective only if counsel’s conduct “so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process” that the defendant was denied a fair proceeding. Id. at 686; see Nix v. Whiteside, 475 U.S. 157, 175 (1986) (noting that under Strickland, the “benchmark” of the right to counsel is the “fairness of the adversary proceeding”); cf. United States v. Morrow, 977 F.2d 222, 229 (6th Cir. 1992) (“[T]he threshold

issue is not whether [the applicant's] attorney was inadequate; rather, it is whether he was so manifestly ineffective that defeat was snatched from the hands of probable victory.”).

Appellate courts such as this Court, in turn, must give great deference to the post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and must affirm these findings if there is any evidence in the record to support them. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). However, pure questions of law are reviewed de novo and appellate courts will reverse the post-conviction relief court's decision only if its decision is controlled by an error of law. Id.; Frierson v. State, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2018). The post-conviction relief court's findings regarding prejudice are based on a thorough review of the record as a whole, and, accordingly, are inherently fact-based and must be afforded deference by a reviewing appellate court. See Briggs v. State, 421 S.C. 316, 334, 806 S.E.2d 713, 723 (2017) (“The PCR court found the case ‘came down to the victim’s believability and credibility.’ The PCR court found the most damaging testimony to Briggs . . . was not reliable because [the witnesses] ‘credibility is highly suspect.’ Finally, the PCR court found ‘there is a reasonable probability that the result of the Applicant’s trial would have been different’ if Singleton had not allowed Arroyo-Staggs to improperly bolster the victim. Giving to the factual findings by the PCR court the deference we are required by law to give, we affirm the court’s finding that Briggs proved prejudice, satisfying the second prong Strickland.”).

In the present case, the post-conviction relief court's denial of relief is legally sound and supported by the record. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the denial of relief.

**a. The Strickland Court Warned Against Trials-After-Trials to Second Guess the Strategic Reasoning of Defense Attorneys**

The United States Supreme Court, in setting forth the test for measuring constitutionally effective performance of counsel, recognized the innumerable ways in which attorneys may seek

to defend those accused of crimes. “No particular set of detailed rules for counsel’s conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant.” Strickland, 466 U.S.at 688-89. “Any such set of rules would interfere with the constitutionally protected independence of counsel and restrict the wide latitude counsel must have in making tactical decisions.” Id. at 689 (citing United States v. Decoster, 624 F.2d 196, 208 (D.C. Cir. 1976)). “Indeed, the existence of detailed guidelines for representation could distract counsel from the overriding mission of vigorous advocacy of the defendant’s cause.” Id.

Accordingly, “[j]udicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential.” Id. “[A] court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance[.]” Id. “There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.” Id.

The Supreme Court thereafter thoughtfully opined on what might come to pass if it did not afford attorneys broad deference:

The availability of intrusive post-trial inquiry into attorney performance or of detailed guidelines for its evaluation would encourage the proliferation of ineffectiveness challenges. Criminal trials resolved unfavorably to the defendant would increasingly come to be followed by a second trial, this one of counsel’s unsuccessful defense. Counsel’s performance and even willingness to serve could be adversely affected. Intensive scrutiny of counsel and rigid requirements for acceptable assistance could dampen the ardor and impair the independence of defense counsel, discourage the acceptance of assigned cases, and undermine the trust between attorney and client.

Id. at 690. Thus, “[a] convicted defendant making a claim of ineffective assistance must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. “The court must then determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professionally

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